RECEIVED

Nov 12 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

App. Case No. 2025-000305

State of South Carolina Respondent,

vs.

Ivy Tyrone Richardson, Jr. Appellant.

APPELLANT’S INITIAL BRIEF

S. Jahue Moore, SC Bar #4063
John C. Bradley, Jr., SC Bar #7869
Moore Bradley Myers Law Firm, P.A.
1700 Sunset Boulevard (29169)
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, SC 29171
(803) 796-9160
Jake@mbmlawsc.com
John@mbmlawsc.com
Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL
STATEMENT OF CASE
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
STANDARD OF REVIEW
ARGUMENTS.....
 1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DISMISS INDICTMENT
 2023-GS-32- 04011 ON THE GROUNDS THAT IT WAS DEFECTIVE
 AND HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL TO APPELLANT
 2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO DIRECT A VERDICT
 IN FAVOR OR APPELLANT IVY TYRONE RICHARDSON, JR.....
CONCLUSION.....

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Carrier v. State of South Carolina, 441 S. C. 547, 895 S.E. 2d, 679 (Ct. App. 2023).....

State v. Abdullah, 357 S.C. 344, 349, 592 S.E.2d 344, 347 (Ct.App.2004)

State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 236, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016)

State v. Edwards, 373 S. C. 230, 645 S.E. 2d. 66 (Ct. App. 2007), *aff'd as modified*,
383 S.C. 66, 678 S.E. 2d. 405 (2009)

State v. Littlejohn, 228 S.C. 324, 89 S.E.2d 924 (1955)).....

State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 584, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001)

State v. Murphy, 322 S.C. 321, 324–25, 471 S.E.2d 739, 740–41 (Ct.App.1996)

State v. Phillips, 416 S.C. 184, 192, 785 S.E.2d 448, 452 (2016)

State v. Sprouse, 325 S.C. 275, 478 S.E.2d 871, 877 Ct.App.1996)

State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5–6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)

Other Authorities

South Carolina Code Ann. 17-19-100 (1976 as Amended).....

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO DISMISS INDICTMENT 2023-GS-32-04011 ON THE GROUNDS THAT IT WAS DEFECTIVE AND HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL TO APPELLANT?**

- 2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO DIRECT A VERDICT IN FAVOR OF APPELLANT IVY TYRONE RICHARDSON, JR.?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of a conviction of Appellant Ivy Tyrone Richardson, Jr. on an Indictment for the lesser included offense of Assault and Battery (2023-GS-32-04009) on February 13, 2025. Prior to commencement of trial, the Court, over the objection of counsel for Appellant, allowed Respondent to amend Indictment 2023-CP-32-04011 and correct the error contained therein on the grounds that it was a scrivener's error. (TR. p. 29, line 13 – p. 30, line 5).

The trial commenced on February 10, 2025. (TR. p. 121, line 22). Appellant was charged with four (4) separate indictments: 2023-GS-32-04009 for attempted murder; 2023-GS-32-04010 another indictment for attempted murder; 2023-GS-32-03999 for discharge of a firearm into a vehicle; and finally 2023-GS-32-04011 for alleged ill treatment of animals. (TR. p. 25, line 17 – p. 28, line 10). At the close of the Respondent's case, Counsel for Appellant moved to strike Indictment 2023-CP-32-04011 on the ground that:

...[I]t could not be a scrivener's error in terms of the interpretation of it because it was clearly on the face of the indictment it had the date that the shot occurred, so it could not have been – it could not have been viewed as a scrivener's error that should have gone forward and they should have gone ahead and moved for an amendment of that indictment before the indictment was ever called.

(TR. p. 416, lines 8-19).

Counsel for Appellant further moved that all indictments against Appellant be dismissed for insufficiency of the evidence. (TR. p. 416, lines 2-23). These motions were all denied by the Trial Judge. (TR. p. 417, lines 1-4). Appellant's motions were renewed at the close of the evidence. (TR. p. 481, line 24 - p. 482, line 8). These motions were denied by the Court. (TR. p. 482, lines 9-12).

On February 13, 2025, the jury returned a verdict against Appellant, finding him guilty of the lesser included offense of Assault and Battery (2023-GS-32-04009) and not guilty as to the

indictment for ill treatment towards an animal (2023-CS-32-04011). Counsel for Appellant renewed all previously made motions. (TR. p. 568. lines 13-17). Once more these motions were denied by the Trial Judge. (TR. p. 568, lines 18-19).

Appellant was subsequently sentenced by Judge Keesley. (TR. p. 568, line 7 – p. 569, line 18). This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In August of 2023, a “Ms. Sophia Jackson” was living in a house at 105 Lorick Village Road in West Columbia. (TR. p. 428, line 24 – p. 429, line 2). The house and its belongings initially belonged to Appellant’s parents and then passed to Appellant, his brother and two sisters after their parents’ deaths. (TR. p. 428, lines 10-23). Appellant was not living at the residence at the time. (TR. p. 454, lines 8-12). Ms. Jackson was Appellant’s “off and on girlfriend.” Prior to trial, counsel for the State informed the Court that Ms. Jackson’s present location/whereabouts were unknown and that she would not be testifying at trial. (TR. p. 23, lines 15-20). Prior to the events set forth below, Appellant had initiated proceedings in Magistrate’s Court to have Ms. Jackson evicted from the property. (TR. p. 429, line 24 – p. 430, line 7). These efforts were ongoing on the date of the alleged incident which forms the basis of this case.

On August 19, 2023, prior to the date of the incidents which form the basis of the State’s charges against Appellant, Ms. Jackson, Appellant’s “on and off girlfriend,” without his permission or the permission of his siblings, was taking items, furnishings and personal property originally belonging to Appellant’s parents out of the house and selling them. This was without the consent of Appellant. (TR. p. 429, lines 10-20). In addition to removing items, these individuals (identified in Court as the alleged victims in this case) were seen burning belongings in the yard. These items included personal belongings, an air-conditioning unit, furniture and clothes

belonging to Appellant and his parents. (TR. p. 444, line 23- p. 445, line 5; TR. p, 469, lines 12-18).

On August 22nd, the day of the incident which forms the basis of the charges against Appellant, Appellant's sister, Yohntis Zenoba Richardson, received a phone call from a neighbor informing her that individuals were once again on the property, removing items. (TR. p. 429, lines 13-20). She then received a phone call from Appellant informing her that Ms. Jackson was once again, with the assistance of several others (later identified as the alleged victims in this case), taking items out of the house. (TR. p. 429, lines 10-20). Ms. Richardson called 911. Appellant informed his sister that he had left his job and was heading to the residence. Ms. Richardson followed.

In route, Ms. Richardson passed a gas station and recognized a pickup truck that she had previously seen at the house. (TR. p. 430, lines 8-16; TR. p. 431, lines 16-18). Ms. Richardson testified that the same pickup (identified as belonging to Mr. Lane) had been at the property "off and on" all week. (TR. p. 430, lines 8-19). Ms. Richardson followed the pickup to the house, watching it park in front. She noticed that someone in the truck was carrying what she believed to be a rifle. (TR. p. 430, line 20 – p. 431, line 15). She recognized them as the same individuals who had previously been removing items from the house and setting them on fire in the yard. (TR. p. 452, line 14 – p. 453, line 21). Ms. Richardson took and had previously taken photographs of these individuals and the truck at the property. These photographs were taken a day before the incident which forms the basis of the State's case against Appellant. These photographs were admitted into evidence. (Defendants/Appellant's Exhibit No. 1) (Defendants/Appellant's Exhibit 3). These individuals were positively identified as the alleged victims in this case. (TR. p. 452, lines 5-8).

Ms. Richardson testified that the individuals had previously been asked multiple times to stay away from the property and to quit taking items out of the house that did not belong to them. (TR. p. 432, lines 2-17). Ms. Richardson testified that when she asked the individuals to stop doing this, she was threatened. (TR. p. 432, lines 2-17). Ms. Richardson and her sister, India Hybea Richardson, both testified that they and their brother had been threatened by these individuals. (TR. p. 431, lines 8-16; TR. p. 469, lines 4-18). She had seen them brandish a shotgun during their previous trips to the property to remove and/or destroy items belonging to Appellant's family. She also identified these individuals in the Courtroom as the alleged victims. (TR. p. 431, line 16 – p. 432, line 2; TR. p. 452, line 1 – p. 453, line 25). Ms. Richardson testified that prior to the day in question (August 22, 2023), law enforcement had been contacted on multiple occasions regarding these individuals and their actions, but that law enforcement had taken no action against them. (TR. p. 432, line 19 – p. 433, line 4). She testified that she personally contacted law enforcement on the day of the shooting, but no one responded to her call.

Ms. India Hybea Richardson also testified that she had seen the same individuals (identified in the Courtroom), removing items from the house and placing them in a trailer in the days leading up to the events of August 22nd. (TR. p. 470, lines 2 – 18). She too testified that she had notified the authorities regarding the actions of these individuals. (TR. p. 470, lines 16-23). Both sisters testified that up until the events of August 22nd, law enforcement had not taken any action against either Ms. Jackson or any of the other alleged victims in this case for taking property out of the house without permission of its owners. Ms. Richardson testified that she was across the street from her parents' house at the time the shooting occurred, but did not see the shooter.

On August 22, 2023, at approximately 6:09 PM, Lexington County 911 received a phone call of shots fired at 105 Lorick Village Road in West Columbia. (TR. p. 135, line 21 – p. 136, line

16). Records showed that, when the call came in, it came from an individual named Jacob Lane. There was what appeared to be a television playing in the background. (TR. p. 145, lines 9-19). The source of this noise was never accounted for.

The first officer who arrived on scene, Deputy Tyler Douglass, observed Jacob Lane sitting off of the side of the driveway with what appeared to be multiple gunshot wounds. (TR. p. 153, lines 2-8). After placing a tourniquet on Mr. Lane, Deputy Douglass heard a “disturbance” “in the wood line” behind the house. This sounded like a male and a female engaged in an argument. (TR. p. 154, ll. 17-25). Mr. Lane told Deputy Douglas that “they ran down there.” (TR. p. 155, lines 17-24). Deputy Douglas approached the area and found Appellant and Ms. Jackson. (TR. p. 156, lines 4-15). Appellant, but not Ms. Jackson, was detained and taken back to the patrol vehicle. (TR. p. 156, lines 12-15). Deputy Douglas observed a truck off near the wood line along with a boat and some personal items. (TR. p. 159, lines 10-15). Deputy Douglas testified that he looked inside of the truck but did not see a shotgun. (TR. p. 170, lines 1-7). He testified that he was not aware of anyone doing an initial search of the truck to see if there were any weapons inside of it.

Deputy Douglas then attempted to secure the area both inside and outside of the house. After obtaining a search warrant at approximately 10 PM, he discovered an empty gun case inside of the house. He also discovered a dog inside of the house in a bedroom with what appeared to be a gunshot wound to its nose. (TR. p. 273, lines 2-4). There was “a lot” of blood on the bathroom floor. (TR. p. 163, lines 7-23). Photographs of the wounded animal were shown to the jury by Deputy Douglas. (TR. p. 164, lines 8-16) (State’s/Respondent’s Exhibit 7). Deputy Douglas testified that he had not previously seen or heard the dog inside the house when he initially secured the area. He testified that between the time of his arrival and the discovery of the dog, the scene was “pretty chaotic.” (TR. p. 179, line 23). Deputy Douglas testified that he had no idea how the

dog got from outside where it was apparently shot, to the inside of the house. (TR. p. 173, line 15 – p. 174, line 1).

The State called Sergeant Willie Harris. (TR. p. 186, line 25). He accompanied Deputy Douglas back into the wood line where Appellant was apprehended. (TR. p. 191, line 19 – p. 193, line 7). Sergeant Harris testified that later, once the house was checked, several hours after he first responded, he observed a dog with a gunshot wound to its face inside of the house (TR. p. 208, lines 5-20). Sergeant Harris testified that Animal Control was contacted regarding the wounded animal.

Sergeant Harris further testified that later a shotgun and live ammunition was found in the pickup that was located near the wood line. (TR. p. 215, lines 8-25; p. 216, line 12 – p. 217, line 21). He testified that the shotgun was found in the pickup truck after it had been removed from the scene. It was found under the seat away from the driver and passenger compartments. This was the first time that the truck had been searched to Sergeant Harris' knowledge and belief. He had no knowledge as to whether or not any fingerprint analysis or residue testing was done on the shotgun.

Sergeant Harris went back into the woods where he encountered both Appellant and Ms. Jackson. Sergeant Harris was directed to an AR-15 leaning up against a tree by Appellant. (TR. p. 196, lines 16-23; p. 197, lines 1-16). Appellant informed Sergeant Harris, "I called you 20,000 times, what did you expect me to do." (TR. p. 196, lines 12-14). Sergeant Harris further testified that Appellant appeared to be upset and angry regarding "the property situation." (TR. p. 198, ll. 10-17). He was not aware if any fingerprint or residue testing was done on the AR-15. He did not conduct any investigation to see whose name was attached to the AR-15. (TR. p. 228, lines 1-19).

The State called Jacob Lane, one of the alleged victims. Mr. Lane testified that he did not see Appellant fire the shots in question and that he only saw Appellant with a rifle after the fact. Mr. Lane conceded that he had, prior to August 22nd, assisted Ms. Jackson in removing furniture and belongings from the residence, but described these as junk. (TR. p. 161, lines 22-25; p. 262, line 6). The State also called Michael Combs, the other alleged victim who, like Mr. Lane, did not see who actually fired the shots. Mr. Combs also admitted to removing “junk” from the house prior to August 22nd. (TR. p. 267, lines 20-25).

The State called Deputy Robert Spires. (TR. p. 283, line 15). Deputy Spires testified that on the day in question, August 22nd, he responded to a call made by Appellant regarding a “burglary in question.” (TR. p. 284, lines 6-23). It was Deputy Spires’ belief that the call had been made by Appellant. (TR. p. 285, lines 3-4). Appellant reported to Deputy Spires that his former girlfriend, Ms. Jackson was “giving away his property.” (TR. p. 285, lines 18-23). Deputy Spires testified that Lexington County Law Enforcement was already aware of the issues involving the removal of items from the Appellant’s parents’ home and that it was his understanding that law enforcement had responded at least two times prior to his encounter with Appellant Mr. Richardson. (TR. p. 291, line 9 – p. 292, line 1)

Mr. Richardson informed Deputy Spires that he was “under a Court Order” not to be at the residence. Deputy Spires testified that he informed Mr. Richardson that this was a “civil issue” since Ms. Jackson was living at the property. (TR. p. 288, lines 1-17). Deputy Spires testified that Appellant became “agitated” on hearing that law enforcement was not going to be able to assist him in protecting his parents’ property. (TR. p. 288, lines 1-25). Deputy Spires did not question Appellant about his ongoing efforts to have Ms. Jackson evicted from the property.

The Respondent called Crime Scene Investigator Brenda Snelgrove to testify. (TR. p. 296, line 20). She testified that on August 22, 2023, she was a Sergeant over the Crime Scene Unit. (TR. p. 297, lines 2-6). She was qualified as an expert without objection. (TR. p. 300, line 8).

Sergeant Snelgrove testified that she removed evidence including shell casings and shattered glass from the crime scene at 105 Lorick Village Road. Among the evidence removed from the scene was an empty rifle case, found inside of the house. (TR. p. 315, line 22 – p. 316, line 2). Sergeant Snelgrove also noticed, during her inspection of the Dodge Ram pickup belonging to one of the alleged victims, the butt of a gun. (TR. p. 391, line 20 – p. 320, line 21). Along with the weapon, Sergeant Snelgrove also found unfired ammunition attached to the gun. Sergeant Snelgrove testified that the shell casings removed from the scene were never tested to see if they were from the AR-15 recovered at the scene. (TR. p. 332, lines 10-24). In fact, there was no ballistic testing conducted at any time through the course of this investigation, nor were any individuals (or animals) tested for residue.

Respondent called Bryan Senn, an Investigator in the major crimes unit. (TR. p. 347, lines 1-13). He responded to the scene and assisted Sergeant Snelgrove. Investigator Senn recovered a shell fragment, located approximately ten (10) feet up a pine tree on the Lorick Village property. (Tr. p. 351, line 12 – p. 354, line 20). Investigator Senn testified that he could not determine from what weapon the fragment was fired from, where the fragment was fired from, or how long the bullet fragment had been there (Tr. p. 359, lines 12-14).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the Appellate Court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5–6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); *State v. Wood*, 362 S.C. 520, 525, 608 S.E.2d 435, 438 (Ct.App.2004). The Appellate Court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are

clearly erroneous. See, *State v. Abdullah*, 357 S.C. 344, 349, 592 S.E.2d 344, 347 (Ct.App.2004); *State v. Edwards*, 373 S. C. 230, 645 S.E. 2d. 66 (Ct. App. 2007), *aff'd as modified*, 383 S.C. 66, 678 S.E. 2d. 405 (2009).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DISMISS INDICTMENT 2023-CP-32-04011 ON THE GROUNDS THAT IT WAS DEFECTIVE AND HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL TO APPELLANT

Prior to trial, the Trial Court allowed Respondent, over the objection of counsel for Appellant to amend Indictment 2023-CP-32-04011 and correct the error contained therein on the grounds that it was a scrivener's error. (TR. p. 29, line 13 – p. 30, line 5). There was no evidence presented that this was a "scrivener's error." The Court made this assumption without any evidence that it was a scrivener's error as opposed to an error. This was certainly not a minor error on the indictment for alleged ill treatment of an animal. Instead, it was clearly on its face wrong as it contained the absolutely wrong and incorrect date. The Court relied on the case of *Carrier v. State of South Carolina*, 441 S. C. 547, 895 S.E. 2d, 679 (Ct. App. 2023), and the cases cited therein. The Court did not rely on South Carolina Code Section 17-19-100 in reaching its decision in not dismissing the Indictment. In *Carrier*, the Court allowed an amendment to an indictment on the grounds that it was "...merely one of form...which would have no bearing on the rest of the trial process." 441 S.C. at 564, 895 S.E.2d. at 688.

This case is distinguishable from *Carrier* in that the Appellant was clearly prejudiced by the charges contained in this indictment. Prior to the oral arguments, the jury heard the charges contained in this indictment set forth in graphic detail by the Trial Judge. (TR. p. 27, line 20 – p. 28, line 10). Because of the Court's failure to dismiss the indictment, the jury heard extensive testimony from the State's/Respondent's witness, a veterinarian, Dr. Jennifer Bonnema (TR. p. 389, line 9 – p. 415, line 11). This testimony was relevant only because of the existence of the

erroneous indictment arising out of the mistreatment of a dog. The jury heard graphic testimony regarding injuries to the dog, and the fact that the dog had to be euthanized after the incident in question in this case. This error was compounded by the fact that the jury found Appellant “not guilty” of the charges contained in this document. However, as a result of the Court’s failure to dismiss this indictment and to allowing the State to amend this indictment, the Appellant was clearly prejudiced by this evidence. This case is therefore distinguishable from the cases relied upon by the Court in its Order.

There was no evidence presented at trial as to the reason for the clear error on the indictment. The Court unilaterally determined that the indictment was merely a minor scrivener’s error without any evidence as to what the error actually was. Further, the Appellant was clearly prejudiced by allowing this clearly erroneous indictment to proceed to the jury.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO DIRECT A VERDICT IN FAVOR OF APPELLANT IVY TYRONE RICHARDSON, JR.

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