**RECEIVED**

**Apr 30 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000305

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

IVY TYRONE RICHARDSON, JR.,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

BRIAN H. GIBBS  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 104137

Office of the Attorney General  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
Phone: 803-734-3727

S.R. HUBBARD, III  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main St., Ste. 309  
Lexington, South Carolina 29072

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The issue of whether the trial court abused its discretion by denying Appellant's motion to dismiss the indictment for ill treatment of an animal is moot because this Court cannot grant effectual relief as the jury found Appellant not guilty of this charge.**

- A. **Mootness**

To the extent that Appellant argues the trial court abused its discretion by denying his motion to dismiss the indictment for ill treatment of an animal, this issue is moot because Appellant was found not guilty of this charge. (R. 569). Thus, any judgment rendered by this Court would have no practical legal effect because Appellant was not convicted of the indicted crime. *See Sloan v. Greenville County*, 380 S.C. 528, 535, 670 S.E.2d 663, 667 (Ct. App. 2009) ("A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon the existing controversy."); *id.* ("Mootness also arises when some event occurs making it impossible for the reviewing court to grant effectual relief.").

Further, this issue does not fall into any of the exceptions to mootness because (1) this issue, while capable of repetition in other cases, would not generally evade review if a defendant was convicted of the indicted offense; (2) this issue is not a question of "imperative and manifest urgency" requiring this Court to consider the question to establish a rule for future conduct; and (3) the decision by the trial court will not affect future events or have collateral consequences for the parties. *Id.* (providing the following three exceptions to the mootness doctrine: (1) the issue raised is capable of repetition but generally will evade review, (2) if the issue before the appellate court is a question "of imperative and manifest urgency," an appellate court may consider the question in order "to establish a rule for future conduct in matters of important public interest," and (3) if a decision by the trial court may affect future events, or may have collateral consequences

for the parties, the appeal is not moot, despite the appellate court's inability to give effective relief in the present case).

### **B. Preservation**

To the extent that Appellant argues that the trial court's denial of his motion to dismiss the indictment for ill treatment of an animal prejudiced him because the State was able to present testimony from a veterinarian in support of this indictment, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. *See State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) ("In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon by the trial court will not be considered on appeal."). Here, Appellant never raised any argument regarding the testimony of Bonnema or her qualification as an expert in veterinary medicine. Moreover, Appellant did not make any argument that Bonnema's testimony would prejudice him at any point during trial. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

### **C. Prejudice**

To the extent that this issue is preserved for appellate review, Appellant has failed to show that he was in any way prejudiced by the veterinarian's testimony. Not only did the jury find him not guilty of the indicted offense to which this testimony related, the jury also found him guilty of the *lesser included offense* of ABHAN on both of his attempted murder charges. Therefore, Appellant is now arguing for the first time on appeal that evidence related to the ill treatment of an animal indictment prejudiced him to the point that the jury *only* found him guilty of ABHAN and discharging a weapon into an occupied vehicle *because of this evidence*. However, this unpreserved and moot theory does not consider evidence of Lane's extensive and life-threatening injuries, evidence of Combs injuries, or evidence that Appellant shot into Lane's occupied truck.

It makes no sense. Evidence of Appellant's ill treatment of Jackson's dog clearly did not prejudice Appellant as the jury found him not guilty of ill treatment of an animal and found him guilty of the lesser included offense of ABHAN instead of attempted murder. *See generally State v. Gilchrist*, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) ("All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only *unfair* prejudice which must be avoided." (quoting *United States v. Rodriguez-Estrada*, 877 F.2d 153, 156 (1st Cir. 1989))).

**II. The trial court did not err by denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict because, in the light most favorable to the State, the State presented evidence reasonably tending to prove Appellant's guilt and from which Appellant's guilt can be fairly and logically deduced.**

**A. Preservation as to the ABHAN Convictions**

For an issue to be preserved for appellate review pursuant to our issue preservation rules, the issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-13 (Ct. App. 2004). Further, an appellant cannot argue one theory in support of an issue during trial and then present a different theory in support of the same issue on appeal. *State v. Thomason*, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) ("[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.").

In *State v. Adams*, this Court considered a challenge to a trial court's directed verdict ruling that had a different argument on appeal from the one presented to the trial court. 332 S.C. 139, 144, 504 S.E.2d 124, 126 (Ct. App. 1998). At trial, Adams sought a directed verdict only on a theory that the evidence presented by the State did not "rise to the 'level of reasonable doubt'" as to his indicted charges. *Id.* However, on appeal, Adams shifted his argument and asserted that the trial court erred by denying his directed verdict motion because the State, in his view, failed to present sufficient evidence of his intent to accomplish a sexual battery. *Id.* Because the "precise

argument" Adams raised on appeal was neither raised to or ruled upon by the trial court and because Adams did not renew his motion at the close of his case, this Court determined that Adams's argument was not preserved for appellate review. *Id.*

Here, Appellant asserts that the evidence presented by the State failed to establish the State's case against Appellant for ABHAN. (Int. App. Br. 12). However, this argument was not raised by Appellant during trial, and the trial court did not consider or rule on it. Instead, the argument presented by Appellant at trial focused on Appellant's theory that the State failed to present sufficient evidence to prove his guilt for the *indicted charges*. (R. 427-428, 492-493). Appellant did not argue that the State failed to present evidence sufficient to establish the elements of the lesser-included offense of ABHAN. Moreover, Appellant specifically agreed with the trial court that the jury could find Appellant guilty of the lesser included offense of ABHAN during the charge conference. (R. 495). *See Ramaker v. State*, 46 S.W.3d 519, 523 (Ark. 2001) ("[I]n order to preserve challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence supporting convictions for lesser-included offenses, defendants are required to address the lesser-included offenses, either by name or by apprising trial courts of the elements of the lesser-included offenses, in their motions for directed verdict."); *see also State v. Brown*, 402 S.C. 119, 125, 740 S.E.2d 493, 496 (2013) (holding Brown's issue with a jury instruction was not preserved for appellate review where Brown explicitly stated to the trial court that he had no objection to the instruction); *State v. Rios*, 388 S.C. 335, 342, 696 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2010) (holding Rios waived his right to allege error with a jury charge on appeal where the trial court specifically asked if there were any objections to the instructions given and Rios responded that he had none).

Additionally, Appellant did not point to or mention a single specific element of the indicted offense or the lesser included offense that he believed the State's evidence was lacking. *See State*

*v. Sterling*, 396 S.C. 599, 612, 723 S.E.2d 176, 183 (2012) ("A general directed verdict motion . . . does not preserve any issue for appeal.").

Based on the foregoing, the trial court based its ruling solely on the question of whether evidence supporting all the elements of the *indicted* charges had been presented, and in doing so, did not rule upon or consider any arguments related to the lesser included crime of ABHAN. *See State v. Stone*, 376 S.C. 32, 36, 655 S.E.2d 487, 488-89 (2007) ("If a pitch was never thrown at trial, we cannot review whether the trial court made the proper call."); *State v. Gee*, 262 S.C. 373, 379, 204 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1974) ("Only matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed.").

### **B. Abandonment as to Disarming a Firearm into a Vehicle Conviction**

To the extent Appellant argues that the trial court erred in denying his motion for directed verdict as it relates to the indictment for disarming a firearm into a vehicle, this issue is abandoned on appeal. *See State v. Lindsay*, 394 S.C. 354, 364, 714 S.E.2d 554, 559 (Ct. App. 2011) ("Although Lindsay identified the [issue] in his statement of issues on appeal, he failed to address it in his brief, precluding consideration of appeal."); *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 21, 640 S.E.2d 486, 497 (Ct. App. 2006) (holding an issue listed in a statement of issues on appeal but not addressed in the brief is abandoned on appeal). Appellant's directed verdict argument on appeal focuses exclusively on his ABHAN convictions and does not mention his indictment or conviction for disarming a firearm into a vehicle.

### **C. Merits**

Should this Court determine that the issue of whether the trial court erred by denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict is preserved for appellate review and not abandoned, the trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict because the State presented substantial evidence reasonably tending to prove Appellant guilty of attempted murder, the lesser

included offense of ABHAN, and disarming a firearm into an occupied vehicle. As discussed in Issue I, the question of whether the State presented any evidence of Appellant's guilt of ill treatment of an animal is moot on appeal because the jury found him not guilty of that charge. *See Sloan*, 380 S.C. at 535, 670 S.E.2d at 667 ("A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon the existing controversy.").

"A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the [S]tate fails to produce evidence of the offense charged." *State v. Weston*, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). "If there is any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury." *Id.* at 292-93, 25 S.E.2d at 648. "[W]hen ruling on a directed verdict motion, the circuit court is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight." *State v. Oates*, 421 S.C. 1, 19, 803 S.E.2d 911, 921 (Ct. App. 2017) (citation modified).

#### **i. Discharging a Firearm into an Occupied Vehicle**

While Appellant did not specifically argue on appeal that the trial court erred in denying his general directed verdict motion as it related to the discharging a firearm into an occupied vehicle charge, evidence exists in the record reasonably tending to support Appellant's guilt of this charge. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-440(B) ("It is unlawful for a person to discharge or cause to be discharged unlawfully firearms at or into any vehicle . . . while it is occupied.").

Specifically, Harris testified that when he found Appellant in the tree line near the house, Appellant directed him to an AR-15 assault rifle, which had a disengaged safety. (R. 207-08). Lane testified that he was shot inside of his truck while he was driving onto the property. (R. 251-52). Combs testified that he rode with Lane to drop Jackson off at her house and that within seconds of arriving at the house, 15 to 20 rounds hit the truck he was riding in. (R. 279-80).

Further, Combs testified that shortly after the shooting stopped, Jackson got out of the truck and Appellant appeared from the tree line with a rifle before the two went into the woods. (R. 282). Snelgrove testified that the only used casings found at the scene were consistent with rounds used in a rifle. (R. 318). Ponds and Marthers both used data from Appellant's personal electronic device to place him at or immediately around the house shortly before Lane called 911 to report being shot in his truck. (R. 146-47, 388, 396, 720-23, 724).

Therefore, in the light most favorable to the State, at least some evidence in the record reasonably tends to prove Appellant's guilt for discharging a firearm into an occupied vehicle. Thus, the trial court properly submitted this question to the jury. *See Oates*, 421 S.C. at 19, 803 S.E.2d at 921 ("[W]hen ruling on a directed verdict motion, the circuit court is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight.") (citation modified).

## **ii. Attempted Murder/ABHAN**

Here, Appellant asserts that the State failed to "establish [its] case against Appellant for ABHAN." (Int. App. Br. 12). However, as the trial court determined, evidence exists in the record reasonably tending to support that Appellant's guilt of attempted murder and, even though not argued to or ruled upon by the trial court, the lesser included offense of ABHAN. *See generally* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 ("A person who, with intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder."); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(B)(1)(a)&(b) ("A person commits the offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature if the person unlawfully injures another person, and: . . . great bodily injury to another person results; or . . . the act is accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury."); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(A)(1) ("Great bodily injury' means bodily

injury which causes a substantial risk of death or which causes serious, permanent disfigurement or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ.").

Douglas testified that when he arrived at the house, he observed Lane sitting off to the side with multiple gunshot wounds before applying a tourniquet to Lane's arm to stop the bleeding. (R. 164-65). Harris testified that when he found Appellant in the tree line near the house, Appellant directed him to an AR-15 assault rifle, which had a disengaged safety. (R. 207-08). Lane testified that he was shot inside of his truck while he was driving onto the property. (R. 251-52). Lane also testified that after he was shot, he saw Appellant emerge from around the side of his truck pointing a rifle through the window. (R. 252). Lane confirmed his injuries included multiple gunshot wounds. (R. 254). Combs testified that he rode with Lane to drop Jackson off at her house and that within seconds of arriving at the house, 15 to 20 rounds hit the truck he was riding in. (R. 279-80). Further, Combs testified that shortly after the shooting stopped, Jackson got out of the truck and Appellant appeared from the tree line with a rifle before the two went into the woods. (R. 282). Snelgrove testified that the only used casings found at the scene were consistent with rounds used in a rifle. (R. 318). Ponds and Marthers both used data from Appellant's personal electronic device to place him at or immediately around the house shortly before Lane called 911 to report being shot in his truck. (R. 146-47, 388, 396, 720-23, 724). Dr. Fitzgerald testified that Lane's injuries were serious and life threatening to the point that Lane likely would have died without medical intervention. (R. 377-82). Moreover, multiple witnesses testified that Appellant was angry because he believed Jackson and others were removing items belonging to him or his family members from the house. (R. 209, 249, 296-99).

Therefore, in the light most favorable to the State, at least some evidence in the record reasonably tends to support Appellant's guilt of both attempted murder and ABHAN regarding

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